#### RECEIVED, 4/29/2013 15:18:34, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

## IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC13-411 L.T. Case Nos. 1D12-0858 AND 2011-CA-1653

#### CITRUS COUNTY HOSPITAL BOARD,

Petitioner,

V.

## CITRUS MEMORIAL HEALTH FOUNDATION, INC., a Florida not-for-profit corporation

Respondent.

#### INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

## ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

William J. Grant Florida Bar No. 547611 Law Office Of Grant & Dozier 123 North Apopka Avenue Inverness, Florida 34450 Barry Richard Florida Bar No. 105599 Greenberg Traurig, P.A. 101 East College Avenue Tallahassee, Florida 32301

#### INTRODUCTION

This appeal involves the facial constitutionality of Ch. 2011-256, Laws of Florida. The law was enacted by the Florida Legislature in the exercise of its police power to bring accountability, transparency, and financial controls to a corporation created by a special taxing district created by the Florida Legislature to operate and manage the only public hospital in Citrus County, Florida.

A two-judge majority of the district court panel held the enactment facially unconstitutional as an impairment of the obligation of contracts, in violation of Article I, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution ("the Contract Clause"). The panel majority held that the corporation – the Citrus Memorial Health Foundation, Inc. ("the Foundation") – was not a "public corporation" for which the legislature could exercise its police power, as that term is defined in O'Malley v. Florida Insurance Guaranty Assoc., 257 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 1971), and held that Ch. 2011-256 was unconstitutional under this Court's decision in Dewberry v. Auto-Owners Ins. Co., 363 So. 2d 1077 (Fla. 1978). One judge on the panel dissented on a finding that the "true nature" of the Foundation is that of a public or quasi-public corporation, so that there was no cognizable claim under the Contract Clause. The overarching question in this case is whether an entity created by a public body for the sole purpose of conducting a public function involving public property and funded by public money can unilaterally remove itself from legislative oversight of the use of public money and the operation of the public function.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2011, the Florida Legislature enacted Ch. 2011-256 ("the Act"). Immediately after its enactment, the Foundation filed a lawsuit in Leon County Circuit Court against the Hospital Board and the State of Florida, alleging that the Act impaired the obligation of the Foundation's Lease Agreement with the Hospital Board, its Agreement for Hospital Care with the Hospital Board, and its Articles of Incorporation (asserted by the Foundation to be "a contract between the Foundation and the State of Florida"). R1:13 at ¶ 2.

At the Foundation's request, the court held an emergency hearing just two days after filing its complaint [R9:1737-1800], and granted a temporary injunction enjoining implementation of the Act. R4:644-54. With more complete record information before the court, the parties filed cross motions for summary judgment on the Foundation's constitutional claims. R4:735-86. The court conducted a lengthy hearing on those motions [R10:1836-1980], and then issued a summary judgment order upholding the Act. R9:1644-1658. In its order, the court pointed out that the temporary injunction had been issued "on short notice" and a "limited record," and declared that the findings and conclusions of the summary judgment order were substituted for any inconsistent findings or conclusions in the temporary injunction. R9:1644.

In its order, the court rejected the Foundation's claim that it was a "private" corporation immune from regulatory oversight by the Florida Legislature, and found the Foundation to be a public or quasi-public entity as defined in *O'Malley*. The court then found inappropriate an application of the test for unconstitutionality

set out in *Dewberry*, and upheld the Act on an analysis of the factors which comprise the "balancing test" for determining contract invalidation under *Pomponio v. The Claridge of Pompano Condo., Inc.*, 378 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 1979).

On appeal, a majority of the three-judge panel of the district court overturned the trial court's order on the ground that the Foundation was a "private" corporation because it was formed as a not-for-profit corporation under Chapter 617, Fla. Stat., rather than by an enactment of the Florida Legislature. 2013 WL 535769, attached as Appendix 1. It then applied the diminishment of value test for impairment set out in *Dewberry*. The dissenting member of the panel agreed with the trial court's finding that the Foundation was a public entity formed to carry out the purposes of the Hospital Board as "an 'instrumentality' or 'agency' of the Hospital Board in the truest sense" (*Id.* at p. 4), and that the Act did not violate the Contract Clause.

The Hospital Board has timely appealed the district court's decision.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 1949, the Florida Legislature created the Citrus County Hospital Board as a special taxing district, to be run by five gubernatorial appointees serving as trustees, in order to acquire, build, construct, maintain, and operate a public hospital in Citrus County (*i.e.*, the Citrus Memorial Hospital). Ch. 25728, Laws of Fla., §3 (1949); R1:14. The statute was amended in 1969 to require confirmation of the trustees by the Florida Senate. Ch. 69-944, Laws of Fla., §3.

In 1982, the Florida Legislature enacted section 155.40, Fla. Stat., to give county hospital districts the authority to enter into leases with not-for-profit corporations for the operation and management of their hospitals, "[s]o that citizens and residents of the state may receive quality health care." Ch. 82-147, Laws of Fla., §§ 3, 4. In 1985, the Hospital Board issued \$7,885,000 of Revenue Bonds to refund prior financing obligations undertaken for the expansion, replacement and improvement of its hospital premises. R1:79.

In 1987, the Hospital Board acted under the authority of section 155.40 to incorporate the Foundation as a not-for-profit corporation under Chapter 617, in order to "operate exclusively for the benefit of and to carry out the purposes of . . . the Citrus County Hospital Board." R1:52 at Art. 3.1. The Foundation's Articles of Incorporation provided for nine members of the board of directors, and specified that five would be the trustees of the Hospital Board. *Id.* at Art. 7.1, 7.3, and 7.4. The Articles also provided that the Articles could be amended by the board of directors (id. at Art. XI), and specified that the Foundation would have no members. Id. at Art. VI.<sup>1</sup>

In 1989, the Foundation amended its Articles of Incorporation to change the composition of the board of directors to not less than seven and not more than 11 members, with the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Hospital Board mandated to serve as directors. R1:64-66 at Art. 7.1 and 7.3. The amended Articles did not

In 2006, the Articles were amended to designate the Hospital Board as the Foundation's sole member. R1:69-77.

preclude the three other trustees from serving on the board, and in fact all three were chosen as members of the nine-member board so that, together with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, they remained a majority of the board. R1:55-56; 2:234. 300; 8:1577.

In 1990, the Hospital Board entered into a Lease with the Foundation under which the Hospital Board transferred to the Foundation all of the premises, public assets, operations, and management of Citrus Memorial Hospital, "to enable the Foundation to provide needed hospital and health care facilities in Citrus County . . for the health and welfare of the people of Florida." R1:79-104. The Lease authorized the Foundation to charge reasonable fees for the use of the premises, and to maintain adequate reserves and an operating surplus for improving and offering new services. *Id.* at § 5.6. In consideration for receiving the premises and assets of the hospital, the Foundation had only three obligations. It agreed to pay as rent the debt service on the 1985 Revenue Bonds, the costs payable in connection with the issuance of bonds, and the Hospital Board's administrative overhead expenses. *Id.* at § 3.1.

The Lease required that monthly meetings of the Foundation's board of directors be open to the public (id. at § 30), and that the premises and all assets be returned to the Hospital Board upon expiration or termination of the lease. Id. at §  $26.^2$  <sup>3</sup>

The return of assets was required by the lease-authorizing legislation, section 155.40. *See* Ch. 82-147, Laws of Fla., § 4.

In 1990, the Hospital Board also entered into an Agreement for Hospital Care with the Foundation "in order to assure the provision of adequate and proper medical, health, hospitalization, and emergency care for residents of the County." R1:142. The Hospital Care Agreement required the Foundation to submit to the Hospital Board an annual operating and capital budget, and obligated the Hospital Board to appropriate and pay to the Foundation the money necessary to fund such budget. R1:147.<sup>4</sup> The funds are raised by the levy of ad valorem taxes on Citrus County property owners. Sec. 6, Ch. 2011-256, Laws of Florida.

At the time that the Lease and Hospital Care agreement were entered into, the same Hospital Board members controlled both the Hospital Board and the Foundation. R1:55-56; 2:234. 300; 8:1577.

In 2006, the parties amended the Hospital Care Agreement to "codify the role of the Foundation in meeting the [Hospital] Board's legal responsibilities" (R5:834-35, Whereas clause), by providing:

That the obligations of the [Foundation] are to be considered a transfer of a governmental function from the [Hospital] Board to the

(... continued)

In 2002, the Hospital Board and the Foundation entered into a Fourth Amendment to the Lease Agreement in order to revise the legal description of the real property subject to the lease dated October 28, 2002, and reiterated that the Hospital Board and the Foundation "have the legal authority for the original lease and the amendments thereto per F.S. 155.40." R7:1237-1240.

In 1992, the parties entered into an Amended and Restated Agreement for Hospital Care containing essential the same terms as the prior agreements. R.1:160-74.

[Foundation]; and additionally, that in carrying out its obligations, the [Foundation] will be construed to be acting on behalf of the Board, as that term is used in §155.40, Fla. Stat.

#### *Id.* at § 1.

In 2006, the Foundation amended its Articles of Incorporation to have a board of directors composed of the Hospital Board trustees, five to seven At-Large members, the Foundation's president, and the chair of hospital's medical staff. This brought the number of board members to not less than 12 or more than 14, with the consequence that the Hospital Board's five trustees could no longer constitute a majority of the board. R8:1577.

In 2006, the Foundation sought an opinion from the Florida Attorney General that it was entitled to sovereign immunity. R5:837-40. In its application letter, the Foundation's counsel represented that:

- (i) the Hospital Board created the Foundation "in order to carry out the purposes of the [act creating the Hospital Board]";
- (ii) "the Agreement for Hospital Care provides that the obligations of the [Foundation] "are to be considered a transfer of a governmental function from the Board to the [Foundation]";
- (iii) the Agreement for Hospital Care provides that, in carrying out its obligations, *the* [Foundation] *will be construed to be 'acting on behalf' of the [Hospital] Board*, as that term is used in section 155.40, Florida Statutes"; and
- (iv) "the [Hospital] Board agreed to appropriate sufficient funds to the [Foundation] such that [it] may fulfill its obligations to provide medical services to the residents of the County." (Emphases added).

Based on that information, the Attorney General opined that the Foundation "is acting primarily as an instrumentality of the Citrus County Hospital Board" and subject to sovereign immunity. R5:842-44.

In 2007, the Foundation moved for summary judgment in a Citrus County Circuit Court proceeding in defense of tort liability, on the basis of sovereign immunity. In its motion, the Foundation represented to the court (among other things):

- (i) that it was "created by the Hospital Board for the purpose of fulfilling the Hospital Board's public function of operating hospitals in Citrus County for the benefit of Citrus County residents";
- (ii) that the Agreement for Hospital Care provides that "the obligations of the [Foundation] are to be considered a transfer of a governmental function from the [Hospital] Board to the [Foundation]; and additionally, that in carrying out its obligations, the [Foundation] will be construed as acting on behalf of the [Hospital] Board, as that term is used in section 155.40";
- (iii) that "the Lease requires the Foundation to hold public Board of Directors meetings, just as the Board of Trustees of the Hospital Board must hold public meetings under Florida's Sunshine Law"; and
- (iv) that, "In the instant case, it is beyond any reasonable dispute that the Hospital Board has delegated to the Foundation its public function of operating hospitals in Citrus County, Florida. The Lease and the Agreement say as much, and the actual conduct of the parties is irrefutably consistent with the transfer of a public function. In fact, the Foundation serves no purpose other than to fulfill the Hospital Board's public function of operating hospitals in Citrus County. Accordingly, the Foundation is serving as an 'instrumentality' or 'agency' of the Hospital Board in the truest sense."

R5:846-61. (Emphases added).

The circuit court accepted these representations as a basis for finding that the Foundation was entitled to sovereign immunity in the lawsuit. R5:863-69.

Thereafter, the Foundation has repeatedly used its sovereign immunity as a defense against tort liability in other lawsuits, on the ground that it was "performing a state function."<sup>5</sup>

In 2008, the Foundation sought authority from the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration ("AHCA") to "rebase" its Medicaid rates. In its letter request, the Foundation's attorney represented to AHCA that

[the Foundation] fulfills the Hospital Board's public function and answers to the Hospital Board regarding key operational, capital and financial decisions. [The Foundation] is owned by the Hospital Board, and the Hospital Board provides significant funding to [the Foundation]. In addition to being found sovereign immune as a matter of law, which is reserved only for the state and its agencies, [the Foundation], acting as a public entity is compliant with all of Florida's Sunshine Laws regarding pubic [sic] records and meetings.

R5:927-30 (emphasis added).

-

See Citrus Memorial Health Found. v. Citrus Orthopedics, LLC, Case No. 2007-CA-1166, Citrus County Cir. Ct. (Aug. 2007); Paul v. Hendrick, Case No. 2011-CA-001327, Citrus County Cir. Ct. (Aug. 2007); Dorpp v. Citrus Memorial Health Found., Case No. 2008-CA-2111 Citrus County Cir. Ct. (April 2008); Savage v. Citrus Memorial Health Found., Case No. 2009-CA-5113, Citrus County Cir. Ct. (July 2009); Patterson v. Citrus Mem'l Health Found., Citrus County Cir. Ct. (Sept. 2010); Couture v. Citrus Mem'l Health Found., Case No. 2011-CA-810, Citrus County Cir. Ct. (March 2011); Bogner v. Citrus Mem'l Health Found., Case No. 2011-CA-847, Citrus County Cir. Ct. (March 2011); Hartong v. Bernhart, Case No. 2010-CA-1956, Citrus County Cir. Ct. (May 2011).

In 2011, the House Health & Human Services Quality Committee, the House Economics Affairs Committee, and the House Finance & Tax Committee heard from spokespersons for both the Hospital Board and the Foundation, and received governmental reports which revealed the following information regarding the Foundation's management and operation of the hospital:

- (i) "The Hospital lease contains no provisions for any corporate performance standards regarding financial or operative compliance with industry standards by the Foundation";
- (ii) "Financial Hospital Data 2003-08 compiled by the Agency for Healthcare Administration (AHCA) reported that the Foundation had incurred cumulative financial operative losses from patient services exceeding \$50 million";
- (iii) "2009 AHCA documents reflected corporate losses from patient services approaching \$6 million. Internal financial statements of the Foundation projected 2010 corporate losses from patient services in excess of \$10 million";
- (iv) "AHCA Financial Hospital Data 2003-08 reported that the Foundation consistently underperformed AHCA statistically similar hospital group operating margin financial benchmarks and consistently underperformed the AHCA not-for-profit hospital group";
- (v) "Consistent patient service operative losses incurred by the Foundation from 2004 to 2009 necessitated substantial increases in the ad valorem tax burden on citizens of Citrus County and decreased the Foundation's quantitative debt capacity from \$11 million in 2004 to negative \$22 million in 2008";
- (vi) "A report of the Florida Auditor General in February 2010 noted that the Lease Agreement does not prescribe any specific good business practices to insure efficient operations of the Citrus County Hospital"; and
- (vii) "In October 2010, the Executive Committee of the Medical Staff of the Citrus County Hospital expressed "no confidence" in the

Foundation's chief executive officer and president by a super majority vote."

R5:873, 876-82.

Acting on this information, the 2011 legislature enacted Chapter 2011-256 with the observations that "meaningful oversight by the hospital board is necessitated in light of the [Foundation's] status as an instrumentality of the hospital district," and "the ability of the hospital board to continue to act in the public interest on behalf of the taxpayers of Citrus County requires mechanisms to ensure adherence to the hospital board's public responsibilities." Ch. 2011-256, Whereas clauses.

Section 3 of Chapter 2011-256 provides that the Act was enacted as a "codification of all special acts relating to the Citrus County Hospital Board . . . to provide a single, comprehensive special act charter for the district, including all current authority granted to the district by its several legislative enactments . . . ." *Id.* at § 3. The Act also repealed all of the previous special laws which had governed the Hospital Board. *Id.* at § 6.

Section 4 enacts Section 16 of the Act, which contains 15 separate, substantive subsections. The issues in this case arise from Section 16 in the Act, which begins with a declaration that it was enacted "to ensure public oversight, accountability, and public benefit." *Id.* at § 16. The Foundation's lawsuit has not challenged sections 3 and 6 of the Act, which re-enact prior enactments concerning the Hospital Board and repeal all prior special laws governing the Hospital Board.

Nor has the Foundation challenged all of the 15 subsections contained in Section 16 of the Act. It has not challenged those which require:

separate accounting for the expenditure of all ad valorem tax moneys provided to it by the Hospital Board, approval for the expenditure for all such public tax funds in a public meeting, and separate annual accounting in a report to the Hospital Board;

Hospital Board approval of capital expenditures in excess of \$250,000, and non-budgeted operative expenditures in excess of \$125,000;

Hospital Board reimbursement for indigent care based on an annually approved budget; and

construction and interpretation of provisions in the Act and the Hospital Board's lease "as furthering the public health and welfare . . . "

*Id.* at subsections 16(1), (10), (13), and (14).

The subsections in Section 16 which the Foundation has challenged are those which provide:

(2) that the Hospital Board approve the articles of incorporation, bylaws, and other governing documents of the Foundation;

\* \* \*

- (5) that the five trustees of the Hospital Board shall constitute a majority of the Foundation's board of directors, and directing that the governing documents shall be amended forthwith to make that a requirement;
- (6) that all members of the Foundation's board of directors shall be subject to approval by the Hospital Board;
- (7) that the chief executive officer of the Foundation, and his or her term of office, shall be approved and may be terminated by the Hospital Board;

- (8) that the Hospital Board will approve borrowings over \$100,000, additional loans and leases over \$1,250,000, and all policies that govern travel reimbursements and contract bid procedures;
- (9) that no annual operating or capital budget of the Foundation shall become effective until approved by the hospital board; and

\* \* \*

(11) that the Hospital Board may require an annual audit of the financial management of the hospital at the expense of the Foundation.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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