## IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CITRUS COUNTY HOSPITAL BOARD and the STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellants,

VS.

CITRUS MEMORIAL HEALTH FOUNDATION, INC., a Florida not-for-profit corporation,

Appellee.

Case No. SC13-411

L.T. Case Nos. 1D12-0858 and 2011-CA-1653

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Appeal from a Decision of the First District Court of Appeal

Peter D. Webster Florida Bar No. 185180 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. 215 South Monroe Street Suite 500 Tallahassee, FL 32301

Telephone: (850) 224-1485

Facsimile: (850) 222-0398

Sylvia H. Walbolt Florida Bar No. 33604

Gary L. Sasso

Florida Bar No. 622575 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A.

4221 West Boy Scout Blvd., Suite 1000

Tampa, FL 33607

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Faithfully following this Court's decisions enforcing the Florida Constitution's prohibition of impairment of contracts, the First District held that the Special Law impermissibly impaired the Foundation's Articles of Incorporation, long-term Lease, and Hospital Care Agreement. The First District's decision is demonstrably correct and should be affirmed.

At a time when CCHB had control of the Foundation's Board as a matter of right under the Foundation's Articles, CCHB deliberately gave up that right in order to take advantage of the statutory scheme established in section 155.40. The Legislature enacted section 155.40 to empower public entities to privatize public hospitals by leasing them to not-for-profit corporations, subject to the conditions set forth in that statute, so as to deliver quality health care to the public and to compete more effectively with private hospitals.

CCHB pursued this course because it wanted to attain the significant cost savings that would come from moving Hospital employees out of the public retirement system and into a private sector chapter 617 not-for-profit corporation that fell outside of the State retirement system. CCHB also wanted to enable the Hospital to enter into private sector joint ventures foreclosed to a public entity like CCHB. In contracting out the operation of the Hospital to the Foundation, CCHB succeeded in obtaining those substantial benefits for more than 20 years. Yet, CCHB now seeks to undermine the very purpose of section 155.40 by taking control of the Foundation (and therefore the Hospital) in derogation of the Foundation's existing Articles and long-term contracts with CCHB.

To that end, the Special Law requires the Foundation to amend its existing Articles to give CCHB the right to determine who controls the Foundation's Board of Directors, a right that CCHB last enjoyed more than 20 years ago, before it very purposefully contracted out the operation of the Hospital to the Foundation. Under settled Florida law, however, the Foundation's Articles are a contract with the State, and the Special Law unconstitutionally impairs the Foundation's contractual governance rights. So too, the Special Law's directive that the Foundation's contracts with CCHB be amended retroactively to impose greater obligations and fewer rights upon the Foundation is an unconstitutional impairment of contract.

In ruling that the Foundation is a public entity whose contracts could be legislatively impaired, the circuit court mistakenly relied on cases involving very different entities that were created directly by the Legislature through enabling legislation and therefore were subject to the Legislature's plenary control. By contrast, the Foundation is a lawfully created not-for-profit corporation, incorporated through Articles of Incorporation under chapter 617. That is why it can operate the Hospital without the constraints that must be observed by a public entity, and that was the whole reason why CCHB opted to contract out the operation of the Hospital to the Foundation in the first place.

The Foundation is entitled to the same protection against legislative impairment as any other chapter 617 not-for-profit corporation. Florida's constitutional prohibition of impairment of contracts thus was properly enforced by the First District. The Special Law also is invalid as a matter of due process, as it retroactively impairs the Foundation's vested contract rights by creating new contractual rights for CCHB and new contractual obligations for the Foundation.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THE SPECIAL LAW UNCONSTITUTIONALLY IMPAIRS THE FOUNDATION'S CONTRACTS.

#### A. Standard of Review.

The Foundation agrees that this Court reviews constitutional issues de novo.

# B. The Foundation is a duly incorporated not-for-profit corporation under chapter 617, not a public entity established by enabling legislation.

The First District correctly concluded that the Foundation is not a public entity whose contracts may be impaired by the Legislature, explaining that "the Foundation was not created by the legislature and was used by [CCHB] for the express purpose of avoiding statutory and constitutional limitations which would pertain to [CCHB] as a public entity." <u>Id.</u> at 677.

Specifically, CCHB decided to "contract out" the operation of the Hospital in order "to reduce expenditures by removing employees from the state retirement plan, and to create joint venture opportunities for the hospital." <u>Id.</u> Although CCHB had determined "those actions would financially benefit the hospital," CCHB was precluded by Florida law from "undertaking such actions" since it is a public entity. <u>Id.</u> CCHB accordingly contracted with the Foundation – a duly incorporated not-for-profit corporation – to operate the Hospital. <u>Id.</u>

Thus, characterizing "the Foundation as a public entity disregards the purpose of the contractual agreements," which was to transfer the operation of the Hospital from a public entity to an entity that was not a public entity. <u>Id.</u> If CCHB wanted the Hospital to be operated by a public entity, it could have continued to operate the Hospital itself. Instead, CCHB wanted the Hospital to operate without the legal constraints on a public entity, just as section 155.40 authorizes.

The whole point of section 155.40 is to allow public hospitals to operate without the constraints on public entities that hinder their competitiveness. <u>Indian River</u>, 766 So. 2d at 235-38. The Legislature enacted section 155.40 specifically to empower public entities to privatize public hospitals by leasing them to not-for-profit corporations, subject to the conditions set forth in that statute, so as to deliver "quality health care" to the public on a more competitive basis. <u>Id.</u>

As the First District correctly recognized, Defendants' effort to characterize the Foundation as a public entity whose contracts may be impaired at will by the Legislature misapprehends the legal difference between (1) a public corporation created by the Legislature in enabling legislation, whose rights are established in that legislation and (2) a not-for-profit corporation created by the filing of Articles of Incorporation under chapter 617, whose rights are established in those Articles.

The Legislature created <u>CCHB</u>, not the Foundation, as a "public nonprofit corporation" in special enabling legislation establishing CCHB's governance rights. <u>See ch. 25728</u>, § 3, Laws of Fla. (1949). In contrast, the Foundation is a not-for-profit corporation created decades later through the filing by an "Incorporator" of Articles of Incorporation under chapter 617 (R1:58), and the method of selecting its Board is specified in those Articles.

This distinction is fundamental and dispositive. Although the Legislature may amend its own enabling legislation creating a public entity and alter the rights

granted to the public entity in that legislation, the Legislature here did not amend any enabling legislation creating the Foundation. Rather, the Legislature amended the enabling legislation creating CCHB — which nowhere mentioned the Foundation — and therein directed the Foundation to amend its chapter 617 Articles to give CCHB control of the Foundation's Board.

Contrary to CCHB's suggestion, this Court's decision in O'Malley does not allow impairment of the contracts of an entity incorporated under chapter 617. The sole issue there was whether Florida Insurance Guaranty Association, Inc. ("FIGA") was a "private corporation" within the prohibition under article III, section 11(a)(12) of special laws granting privileges to private corporations. O'Malley, 257 So. 2d at 11. FIGA was incorporated by the Legislature. Ch. 70-20, §6, Laws of Fla. (1970). Based on FIGA's enabling legislation, this Court held that FIGA was a "public or quasi-public corporation." O'Malley, 257 So. 2d at 11. Consequently, the special law did not grant privileges to a private corporation. Id.

O'Malley has no bearing on this case, as it dealt with a public corporation created directly by the Legislature. In fact, the O'Malley Court compared FIGA to a host of other "public corporations," id., all of which were created by enabling legislation, not by the filing of articles of incorporation. See, e.g., ch. 26614, § 1, Laws of Fla. (1951) (creating Inter-American Center Authority "as an agency of the State of Florida"); ch. 29996, § 3, Laws of Fla. (1955) (creating Jacksonville

Expressway Authority as an "agency of the State of Florida"). In short, O'Malley did not deal with a corporation created by Articles filed under chapter 617, and the Court did not list any entity incorporated under chapter 617 as the kind of "public corporation" within the purview its analysis. 257 So. 2d at 11.

CCHB quotes the statement in Judge Ray's dissent that there would have been no need in O'Malley to discuss the "attributes of public and private corporations" if the manner of incorporation were dispositive. (IB at 18). The fact is, however, in arriving at its holding in O'Malley, this Court relied directly upon FIGA's enabling legislation, which was the very source of FIGA's creation, and then squarely placed FIGA in the same class as other "public corporations" that likewise were created by the Legislature itself. 257 So. 2d at 11. In the same way, the First District here properly considered the absence of any such enabling legislation, and the Foundation's incorporation instead under chapter 617, in determining the nature of the Foundation's very different relationship with the State. CCHB cites no case holding a chapter 617 corporation is a public corporation unable to protect its contracts from impairment.

CCHB further argues that since the Foundation has no shareholders who could benefit financially by its operations it cannot be a "private corporation" under the "definitions" discussed in <u>O'Malley</u>. (IB at 16-20). The Court's discussion of a private corporation's primary objective of personal emolument for

its shareholders must be viewed, however, in the context of the issue the Court was addressing. The Court was not addressing whether a not-for-profit corporation's contracts could be legislatively impaired. It was addressing the very different issue of whether private interests were being advantaged by a special law under article III, section 11(a)(12). See O'Malley, 257 So. 2d at 11. The fact that FIGA had no shareholders was directly relevant to that issue.

Under CCHB's argument, because a chapter 617 not-for-profit corporation never has shareholders who could receive personal gain, it never could be a private corporation. That would defeat the whole purpose of section 155.40's authorization for a public entity to lease a public hospital to a not-for-profit corporation in order to avoid the legal constraints on the public entity. CCHB's argument is directly at odds with its decision to contract out the operation of the Hospital to the Foundation for that very purpose. In fact, CCHB's argument would necessarily, but wrongly, mean that <u>all</u> not-for-profit corporations are public entities since none of them has shareholders.

In sum, the key distinction is that the O'Malley Court was dealing with a creature of legislation, while the Foundation is a creature of contract – its Articles of Incorporation. This difference is dispositive. The Legislature may amend its own enabling legislation creating a public entity. But, the Legislature may not by

special law impair the contract rights of this lone chapter 617 corporation.

Defendants have not cited any decision allowing that.

Instead, the State cites a host of cases where executive branch agencies and subdivisions like the Department of Education, the Parole and Probation Commission, the Public Service Commission, Miami-Dade County, and county property appraisers were unable to challenge legislative amendments affecting their rights and duties, which were prescribed directly by the Legislature in enabling legislation. (SIB at 11-16). Those cases stand only for the unremarkable proposition that the State generally is able to direct the actions of its own agencies and subdivisions through legislative amendments. That principle does not apply to a chapter 617 not-for-profit corporation.

Indeed, the assertion that the Foundation is a public entity akin to the Department of Education is a suggestion that CCHB impermissibly allowed the Hospital to operate for decades in ways that CCHB is precluded from doing. If the Foundation is a public entity, the Hospital's employees should not have been removed from the public retirement program, and the Hospital should not have entered into joint ventures foreclosed to public entities. After accepting all of the benefits of privatization it achieved by contracting for the Foundation to operate the Hospital, CCHB cannot be heard to say the Foundation is a public entity.

CCHB effectively asks this Court to pierce the Foundation's corporate veil and disregard its lawful not-for-profit corporate status under chapter 617. This Court will not disregard a corporation's status as a separate legal entity, however, except upon a showing that it was used to perpetrate a fraud on innocent third parties. Dania Jai-Alai Palace, Inc. v. Sykes, 450 So. 2d 1114, 1116-21 (Fla. 1984). CCHB has neither alleged nor proven any such fraud. Instead, it is CCHB itself that seeks to repudiate its own actions in relying over the years upon the Foundation's status as a private corporation in order to allow the Hospital to move its employees out of the state retirement system and engage in joint ventures.

In point of fact, the Foundation is, and has been at all times, a lawfully incorporated not-for-profit corporation under chapter 617 fully capable of entering into and enforcing binding contracts. That is exactly why CCHB contracted for the Foundation to operate the Hospital.

# C. The Foundation's assertion of sovereign immunity does not convert it into a public entity.

In arguing that the Foundation is a public entity that has no constitutional protection against impairment of its contracts, CCHB points to statements by the Foundation regarding the public purpose of its Hospital operations. As the First District explained, the fact that "some public benefit" flowed from the Foundation's operation of the Hospital does not mean the Foundation is a public entity such that its contracts may be impaired. <u>Citrus Mem'l</u>, 108 So. 3d at 678.

Furthermore, context is crucially important to any legal analysis. The Foundation's statements were made in the context of seeking sovereign immunity (R5:837-39, 846-61) or increased Medicaid reimbursement for operating the Hospital (R5:927-30), which is consistent with the legislative purpose of granting sovereign immunity to protect the financial integrity of corporations contracting to perform a public function. A private corporation's assertion of entitlement to sovereign immunity by virtue of its contractual relationship with a public entity does not mean that the corporation itself becomes a public entity.

This Court recently made that clear in <u>Keck v. Eminisor</u>, 104 So. 3d 359 (Fla. 2012). There, the First District had held that a "private corporation" operating under a contract with a public entity was not entitled to sovereign immunity, because, among other things, it was "inconsistent" for that corporation to use its "private status in labor relations matters while claiming [it] is a state agency for sovereign immunity purposes." <u>Id.</u> at 368. This Court disagreed, explaining that the requirements for being a "public employer for labor relations purposes" are different from the requirements for sovereign immunity. <u>Id.</u>

Just as in <u>Keck</u>, the Foundation's statements simply meant – in context – that it was an agency of the State in the broad sense contemplated by the sovereign immunity statute. That does not convert the Foundation into a public entity. Nor

does it mean that the Foundation may not legally enforce the very contracts giving rise to its status as an agent of CCHB in the first place.

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